





## **Learning Interculturality From rEligion**



## Final Manual on PD&P Model for Primary Schools

Project Number 2016-1-IT02-KA201-024660

The European Commission support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents which reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein







#### **Author**



Fondazione Hallgarten-Franchetti Centro Studi Villa Montesca, Italy

## In collaboration with the LIFE Consortium



Fundación Universidad San Jorge, Spain



Centre for Educational Initiatives, Bulgaria



K.S.D.E.O. 'EDRA', Greece



EGECED, Turkey

LIFE Website: <a href="http://www.life-erasmus.eu">http://www.life-erasmus.eu</a>

Facebook: LIFE - Learning Interculturality from religion







## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	4
Reasons for Teaching about Religions and Beliefs	8
Multi-culturalism and inter-culturalism: a political and educative overview	<i>,</i> 10
Understanding Multiculturalism	11
Multiculturalism and Common values	15
The Model: pedagogical implications	17
Defining Constructivism in the Model: why teaching religion with an appro	oach based
on experience and discovering	19
The Pedagogical Teaching Religion Model (PTRM)	21
The Model in Action	23
List of questions to be discussed (exemplum)	27
Realizing the method together	27
LIFE Pedagogical Model	29
List of proposed questions	32
Bibliography	36
Summary of Didactic Experimentations - Synthesis Report	39







## Introduction

In general terms, when in literature, sociology and politics we speak about religion we intend to make reference to a collection of cultural dimensions and visions of the world that are related to spirituality and to some aspects of the moral values. Religions have narratives, symbols, traditions, and sacred histories that are intended to give meaning to life or to explain the origin of life or the universe.

In almost all the languages of the world it is possible to find words that have the same meaning of the English word for "religion". However, the way the concept is conceived can appear very different and some have no word for religion at all. For example, the Sanskrit word "dharma," sometimes translated as "religion" also means "law". Throughout classical South Asia, the study of law consisted of concepts such as penance through piety and ceremonial and practical traditions. Medieval Japan at first had a similar union between "imperial law" and universal or "Buddha law," but these later became independent sources of power. This leads Mircea Eliade to present a tautological explanation of what we intend as sacred, defined as that which is not profane; reflecting on his use of the term "profane" to encompass anything which is absolutely not sacred, he would have been better off defining sacred as anything that is not non-sacred. However, he prefers to stretch the definitions of words at will in order to make himself more legitimate and mask his inability to actually define what is sacred (though it is perhaps only definable in a tautological manner, as something relative to its inverse)

The usual definition of religion refers to a "belief in and worship of a superhuman controlling power, especially a personal God or gods." (Oxford dictionary) However, it is generally noted that this basic "belief in god" definition fails to capture the diversity of religious thought and experience. Edward Burnett Taylor defines religion in terms of "the belief in spiritual beings." In this definition lays the idea that is not appropriate to narrow the meaning of the religion in a belief in a supreme deity or in an expected judgment after death. It leads to the potential exclusion of many forms and expressions of religious cultural dimensions and thus "has the fault of identifying religion rather with particular developments







than with the deeper motive which underlies them." He also argued that the belief in spiritual beings exists in all known societies.

The sociologist Emile Durkheim, in his seminal book *The Elementary Forms of the Religious Life*, defined religion as a "unified system of beliefs and practices relative to sacred things." By sacred things he meant things "set apart and forbidden — beliefs and practices which unite into one single moral community called a Church, all those who adhere to them. "Sacred things are not, however, limited to gods or spirits. On the contrary, a sacred thing can be "a rock, a tree, a spring, a pebble, a piece of wood, a house, a word, anything can be sacred." Religious beliefs, myths, dogmas, and legends are the representations that express the nature of these sacred things and the virtues and powers that are attributed to them.

The development of religion has taken different forms in different cultures. Some religions place an emphasis on belief while others emphasize practice. Some religions focus on the subjective experience of the religious individual while others consider the activities of the religious community to be most important. Some religions claim to be universal, believing their laws and cosmology are binding for everyone, while others are intended to be practiced only by a closely-defined or localized group. In many places religion has been associated with public institutions such as education, hospitals, family, government, and political hierarchy. One modern academic theory of religion, i.e. social constructionism, says that religion is a modern concept that has been defined relative to the Abrahamic religions and that thus, religion as a concept has been applied inappropriately to non-Western cultures that are not based upon such systems.

After having explored the cultural and anthological dimension of religion, we can assume that believing is a state of the mind. Everybody has beliefs about life and the world they experience. Mutually supportive beliefs may form belief systems, which may be religious, philosophical or ideological.

According to the *Compass Manual of the Human Rights of the Council of Europe*: "Religions are belief systems that relate humanity to spirituality". The following definition provides a good overview of the different dimensions of religion: it is a collection of cultural systems,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.coe.int/en/web/compass/religion-and-belief







belief systems, and world views that relate humanity to spirituality and, sometimes, to moral values. Many religions have narratives, symbols, traditions and sacred histories that are intended to give meaning to life or to explain the origin of life or the universe. They tend to derive morality, ethics, religious laws or a preferred lifestyle from their ideas about the cosmos and human nature. Many religions have organized behaviors, clergy, a definition of what constitutes adherence or membership, congregations of laity, regular meetings or services for the purposes of veneration of a deity or for prayer, holy places (either natural or architectural), and/or scriptures. The practice of a religion may also include sermons, commemoration of the activities of a god or gods, sacrifices, festivals, feasts, trance, initiations, funerary services, matrimonial services, meditation, music, art, dance, public service, or other aspects of human culture. However, there are examples of religions for which some or many of these aspects of structure, belief, or practices are absent. In the simplest sense, religion describes "the relationship of human beings to what they regard as holy, sacred, spiritual or divine". It is usually accompanied by a set of organized practices which foster a community of people who share that faith.

As discussed above, belief is a broader term and it also includes "commitments which deny a dimension of existence beyond this world". Religions and other belief systems in our environment have an influence on our identity, regardless of whether we consider ourselves religious or spiritual or not. At the same time, other parts of our identity, our history, our approach to other religions and groups considered "different" will influence how we interpret that religion or belief system. Religions and other belief systems in our environment have an influence on our identity, regardless of whether we consider ourselves religious or spiritual or not. At the same time, other parts of our identity, our history, our approach to other religions and groups considered "different" will influence how we interpret that religion or belief system". This definition should encounter the agreement of the majority of believers and non-believers, even if the "state of mind" of those that declare to be "atheist" or "agnostic" is variate and not simple to define, containing different and various categories and ideas.

Considering religion as a "state of mind" and having stated the right to express this inner nature of the people, the question is if it is possible or useful to teach religion. In November 2007 the OSCE published its "Toledo Guiding Principles on Teaching about Religion and Beliefs







in Public Schools" (ISBN 83-60190-48-8). These were prepared by its panel of experts on freedom of religion or belief. They concluded that Teaching about religions and beliefs may be adapted to take into account the needs of different national and local school systems and traditions. Teaching about religions and beliefs is an important responsibility of schools, which should prepare young people for life in a plural society. However, the manner in which this teaching takes place in schools should not undermine or ignore the critical role of families and religious or belief organizations. Families, together with religious or belief communities, are responsible for the moral education of future generations. Working together, families, religious and belief organizations, and Schools can promote mutual understanding by teaching respect for the rights of others.







## Reasons for Teaching about Religions and Beliefs

There are several compelling reasons for teaching about religions and beliefs, all of which are rein-forced when this type of teaching occurs in the context of commitment to religious freedom and human rights. These include:

- Religions and beliefs are important forces in the lives of individuals and communities and therefore have great significance for society as a whole. Understanding these convictions is necessary if people are to understand one another in our diverse societies, and also if they are to appreciate the significance of the rights that protect them.
- Learning about religions and beliefs contributes to forming and developing self-understanding, including a deeper appreciation of one's own religion or belief. Studying about religions and beliefs opens students' minds to questions of meaning and purpose and exposes students to critical ethical issues addressed by humankind throughout history.
- Much history, literature and culture is unintelligible without knowledge of religions and beliefs. Therefore study about religions and beliefs is an essential part of a well-rounded education. Learning about religions and beliefs forms part of one's own stock of education, broadens one's horizon and deepens one's insight into the complexities of both past and present.
- Knowledge of religions and beliefs can help promote respectful behavior and enhance social cohesion. In this sense, all members of society, irrespective of their own convictions, benefit from knowledge about the religious and belief systems of others<sup>2</sup>.

It appears very evident that Religion can be considered as one of the most relevant conflictual factors in the world. But it is also evident how Religion is the moral reference for billions of people in the World and it is to be considered the main factor of a cultural identity that through a shared belief can bring together racial and geographical different communities. The word Religion itself comes from the Latin *religare*, that can be translated as "to bind back together." Religion is an expression of the human beings that has the power to bind people and communities, but has also the power to create contrasts and conflicts. In the reason itself

\_

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  TOLEDO GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON TEACHING ABOUT RELIGIONS AND BELIEFS IN PUBLIC SCHOOLS, 2007







of this paradox lies the answer to the question why a powerful insolent of solidarity became the major reasons of conflicts and divisions. Today even those who attend religious services and profess to be devout may never have thought deeply about the fundaments of their faith and are in general not interested in knowing better the religion of others.

According to a recent article published in the U.S. "This is something like learning geography by memorizing the names and capitals of all the states, but never finding out about other countries and continents which lie beyond the borders". Conflicts between religions and the rise of religious fundamentalisms worldwide provoked violence in many parts of the World and more and more people refuse to study deeply the meaning of the basic questions to which the religious faith intends to answer. The possibility to contrast the phenomena of religious fundamentalism is promoting in education the religious literacy and making possible and familiar to the students the philosophical approach to their faith, including knowing better other religions.

In school we study many elements of the artistic and cultural expressions of the humanity and religion is part of it. Starting from a religion, not merely meant as cultural expression but as a part of inner expression of the human condition, it is possible to build a progressive and evolutional approach in the students that can lead to consider also the alternative religion beliefs as respectful and positive to the same extent. It is very important to think about the idea that teaching religions is a neutral educative position. Is It possible to teach religion without a religion? The experience shows that we are in need to start from one religion, with a positive attitude and openness to other expressions, but teaching cultural religious expressions or history of religions is to be considered something different.

The Model proposes the idea that teaching Religion is an effort of understanding and reciprocal comprehension. The main goal is reflecting on the approach to the main questions the human beings are naturally inclined to find an answer. The answer, or better, the answers cannot be figured out turning to the rational and cultural side of the human thought, but to deal with another way of understanding and thinking. The deep questions related to the inner side of the humanity require an articulated approach, com-posed by spirituality, inquiry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Richard Schiffman, UffPost, 2012







attitude and even rationality. The main idea of the Model is, through the method of the inquiry, making possible to accustom the students to the attitude of asking fundamental questions and finding answers at the end of a process of building their own humanity.

## Multi-culturalism and inter-culturalism: a political and educative overview

All living cultures are outcomes of intercultural communication. This becomes particularly evident in the globalization era where the ever-fast evolving cultural landscape is characterized by an intensified diversity of peoples, communities and individuals who live more and more closely. The in-creasing diversity of cultures, which is fluid, dynamic and transformative, implies specific competences and capacities for individuals and societies to learn, re-learn, and unlearn so as to meet personal fulfilment and social harmony. The ability to decipher other cultures in fair and meaningful ways is predicated not only on an open and pluralistic spirit but also on self-cultural awareness. When a culture is critically aware of its own strengths and limitations, it can extend its horizons and enrich its intellectual and spiritual resources by learning from alternative visions in epistemology, ethics, aesthetics, and worldview. Approaching cultural diversity requires that the broadest possible range of competences be identified and promoted, especially those that societies have devised and transmitted throughout succeeding generations.

Because intercultural interactions have become a constant feature of modern life, even in the most traditional societies, the very manner in which individuals and communities manage encounters with cultural others is under scrutiny. Hence the growing awareness among policy-makers and civil society that intercultural competences may constitute a very relevant resource to help individuals negotiate cultural boundaries throughout their personal encounters and experiences. Intercultural competences are abilities to adeptly navigate complex environments marked by a growing diversity of peoples, cultures and lifestyles, in other terms, abilities to perform "effectively and appropriately when interacting with others who are linguistically and culturally different from oneself" (Fantini & Tirmizi, 2006). Schools







are a central place to nurture such skills and abilities and given their relevance for social and political life, the scope of intercultural competences is much wider than formal education. They have to reach out to a new generation of citizens, notably young men and women who have unimagined opportunities for global conversations.

## **Understanding Multiculturalism**

A very sensitive idea about teaching and learning religion is pivoting around the concept of multi-culturalism. In general lines, the concept of multiculturalism in education is related to "any form of education or teaching that incorporates the histories, texts, values, beliefs, and perspectives of people from different cultural backgrounds. At the classroom level, for example, teachers may modify or incorporate lessons to reflect the cultural diversity of the students in a particular class. In many cases, "culture" is defined in the broadest possible sense, encompassing race, ethnicity, nationality, language, religion, class, gender, sexual orientation, and "exceptionality"—a term applied to students with special needs or disabilities. Generally speaking, multicultural education is predicated on the principle of educational equity for all students, regardless of culture, and it strives to remove barriers to educational opportunities and success for students from different cultural backgrounds. In practice, educators may modify or eliminate educational policies, programs, materials, lessons, and instructional practices that are either discriminatory toward or insufficiently inclusive of diverse cultural perspectives. Multicultural education also assumes that the ways in which students learn and think are deeply influenced by their cultural identity and heritage, and that teaching culturally diverse students effectively requires educational approaches that value and recognize their cultural backgrounds. In this way, multicultural education aims to improve the learning and success of all students, particularly students from cultural groups that have been historically underrepresented or that suffer from lower educational achievement and attainment"<sup>4</sup>.

<sup>4</sup> http://edglossary.org/multicultural-education/







In more deep cultural terms the critic to a homogenizing education was born inside the Frankfurt School of social research in the 1930s. Originally, the concept was defined as a means of addressing a multitude of inequalities both structural and institutional that are taking place in modern education establishments within multicultural settings. After the origins thinkers and activists such as the Brazilian revolutionary thinker Paulo Freire, Henry Giroux and Prof. Peter McLaren of UCLA, amongst others, developed the idea concluding that popular and democratic education is a tool of emancipation for the economically downtrodden, but it goes much further, is much wider in scope and is rooted in critical theory. Strictly linked to the social changes, nowadays the aspects of the multiculturalism in education had been extended to the changes related to the new "melting pot" society and is lined as a form of education "for all" that instils in the students the ability to bring about social change and to take advantages of them. Originally related to the mechanisms of inequality, in modern terms it is related to different styles and strategies of teaching and providing instruction to students whose cultural origins are different. Within critical multiculturalism, adopting a critical pedagogy can help students to develop a consciousness of freedom, to recognize authoritarian tendencies, and connect knowledge to power and the ability to take constructive action based on this knowledge. Like critical theory, a critical pedagogy draws on social sciences and humanities, but more importantly it also draws on the ideas of feminism, Anarchism, and, within a contemporary context, ecology.

For what is related to the definition of multiculturalism and its links with teaching and learning religion, we have to underline that the concept of multiculturalism is varying as more situations occur. A practical example is well defined by the refugees crisis that leads the civil society to a new (and unexpected) debate. As we try to define multiculturalism we intend to involve the diverse perspectives that society develops and maintains through different backgrounds and different ethnic and cultural dimensions. We can say that with the term Multiculturalism we intend the acceptance or better the promotion of various ethnic cultures. Accepting the cultures and their social impact we accept the organizational level, e.g. schools, businesses, neighborhoods, cities or nations.







In this context, multiculturalists advocate extending equitable status to distinct ethnic and religious groups without promoting any specific ethnic, religious, and/or cultural community values as central. Multiculturalism should preserve the ideals of equality, equity, freedom and respect for individuals and groups as a fundamental principle for the success of a nation. Europe is becoming more and more a multi-cultural area. Starting from the post-war era some European Countries experienced an increase of the immigration rate due to deficiency of labor and to the end of the colonialism era. During the 80's, people came from Maghreb and from some Asian Countries. This phenomena accompanied the "internal" immigration among the EU new states. New religions Hindus, Sikhs, Muslims and Buddhists started populating the towns. After the "Enlargement" of the European Union, the immigration load of the early seventies and 1990s made EU an ethnically and religiously diverse community. The idea that the immigrant would ultimately merge and become part of the host culture which was given in mid-50s was progressively rejected. These communities develop their own cultural values. Racial tension increased and by the end of 1980s immigrants were subjected to unprovoked racist attacks. This resulted in the notion that immigration and race relations were politically controversial issues and there was a growing campaign to introduce immigration controls. This debate is nowadays still very actual and the idea of controlling the immigration flows is a problem that the actual governments are in charge to discuss. The idea of controlling the flows is not new: in UK and France during the 1950s certain control measures were adopted to reduce the influx to UK as the number of northern Africans, West Indian, Indian and Pakistani immigrants increased. But in spite of the strict immigration policy the population of immigrants is still growing and the event represented by the "Brexit" will pose new and controversial questions. The huge majority of new citizens come from Africa (32%) and Asia (40%), the largest three groups being people from Maghreb, India and South America. This resulted in changes to the "European way of life" and the EU became to be a multicultural community. This reality is still not always accepted by EU citizens and recently the term







multiculturalism is becoming a contested concept both in sociological discourse and in recent policy making.

The term multiculturalism is generally thought to have arisen in Britain by the Home Secretary, Roy Jenkins in 1966. This term is common current in all the EU countries, anyway there are often instances in particular at local level that consider this term with negative meaning. This opinion trends intend to exclude minority cultures while promoting the values of the dominant white culture. Multiculturalism is also a term which describes aspects of social policy. Multiculturalism is used in a number of ways which can serve either to celebrate difference or to act as a cover for what, in any real terms, is another form of enforced assimilation. It also needs to be recognized that diverse ethnic groups now consist of large numbers of people who were born in the Country. The actual society discovered a progressive lack of religious and spiritual influences represented by the profession of a religion on people. Most of the people born in EU define themselves as atheist, however according to Phil Zuckerman, (The Cambridge Companion to Atheism, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2007, p. 59, ISBN 0-521-60367-6) the general number of people worldwide that declared to be atheist is in great decline. This could be due to the natality rate of the country with a religious majority. Most of the immigrants that come in EU declared to be religious and to believe in god. This perspective implies a potential new argument for the debate about the teaching of religion in schools.







## Multiculturalism and Common values

The debate about the role of the school in teaching common laic values is very relevant. A good example of this debate can be taken in USA. In 2012 Josephson Report Card on the Ethics of American Youth. According to this result it was possible to reveal "a pressing need to integrate elements of character education into the country's public-school curriculums. According to the study, 57 percent of teens stated that successful people do what they have to do to win, even if it involves cheating. Twenty-four percent believe it is okay to threaten or hit someone when angry. Thirty-one percent believe physical violence is a big problem in their schools. Fifty-two percent re-ported cheating at least once on an exam. Forty-nine percent of students reported being bullied or harassed for ethnic or cultural differences in a manner that seriously has upset them" Most of the pedagogues affirm that developing citizenship and teaching religion are to be considered different. And this point has a consistency.

However, the processes of citizens' identification with civil society and political structures imply that to be educated in an holistic approach on the interpersonal and intrapersonal level is a necessary condition for both the social and the political dimension. Creating a dimension of Citizenship can aim at different social, cultural and political practices. The idea of educating for democracy has been strongly advocated by Dewey. He proposed a 'democratic way of life', democracy as lifestyle. Citizenship development is about knowledge, skills and attitudes (values), and the combination of these elements is often referred to as competences. Knowledge and skills are important. For a democratic society to flourish, it is necessary to know about democracy, to have the competences to act democratically. However, what is crucial are the values, the will to behave democratically. According to many sociological analyses, the actual societies need citizens who are flexible and reflective. What Donald Schon referred to as reflection-in-action. In education this calls for a practice in which youngsters reflect on their behavior, take responsibility for their actions, and try out to behave differently, in an experimental and reflective manner. The reflective paradigm has had considerable influence on the thinking about teacher education. Prospective teachers in reflective-oriented







teacher education practice are continuously challenged to inquiry their beliefs and their teaching behavior.

Donald Schon argues that social systems must learn to become capable of transforming themselves without intolerable disruption. In this, 'dynamic conservatism' plays an important role. A learning system must be one in which dynamic conservatism operates at such a level and in such a way as to permit change of state without intolerable threat to the essential functions the system fulfils for the self. Our systems need to maintain their identity, and their ability to support the self-identity of those who belong to them, but they must at the same time be capable of transforming themselves. (Schon 1973: 57). Schon's great innovation at this point was to explore the extent to which companies, social movements and governments were learning systems - and how those systems could be enhanced. He suggests that the movement toward learning systems is, of necessity, 'a groping and inductive process for which there is no adequate theoretical basis' (op. cit). The business firm, Donald Schon argues, is a striking example of a learning system. He charts how firms moved from being organized around products toward integration around 'business systems' (ibid.: 64). In an argument that has found many echoes in the literature of the 'learning organization' some twenty years later, Donald Schon makes the case of learning that isn't simply something that is individual. Learning can also be social: A social system learns whenever it acquires new capacity for behavior, and learning may take the form of undirected interaction between systems [...] Government as a learning system carries with it the idea of public learning, a special way of acquiring new capacity for behavior in which government learns for the society as a whole. In public learning, government undertakes a continuing, directed inquiry into the nature, causes and resolution of our problems.

The need for public learning carries with it the need for a second kind of learning. If government is to learn to solve new public problems, it must also learn to create the systems for doing so and discard the structure and mechanisms grown up around old problems (Schon 1973: 109).







## The Model: pedagogical implications

The model is based on the approaches sealed to the theory known as Constructivism, an innovative philosophy of knowing, learning and assigning meaning to the world and the phenomena associated with it. In generic terms Constructivist approaches and instructional strategies are considered to be based on the position of the students in the learning process: being in a centered-position allows greater interaction with their respective environments. It is not this paper the place to study and analyze the semantic meaning of the term 'constructivism' and its consequences in education, for which influences and for a deepest idea about the theory see the indication presented in the bibliography.

The application of the Model follows the idea that knowledge is the final goal of a personal and community research addressed "to generate knowledge and meaning from experience" (*Facets of Systems Science*, George Klir, 1932). According to many authors, constructivism is a theory of knowledge with roots in philosophy, psychology, and cybernetics. It is based on two main principles:

- Knowledge is not passively received but actively built up by the learners and the teachers is in this process have the role of facilitator;
- The action of cognition is adaptive and serves to organize the world that is experienced by the learner, and not necessarily the discovery of ontological reality.

The Model intends to retake and actualize the Montessori idea of learning as research and discover that needs a specific learning environment. Given that constructivism focuses on learners' ability to solve real-life problems, it not only encourages the learner to arrive at a unique solution, it also pays close attention to the process of arriving at the solution. And in this way the problems related to the main questions of humanity are to be considered as "real life problems" since related to the position of the man beings in the world. Problem-oriented activities that are contextual, relevant and of great interest to learners. Learners may select a problem on their own or a teacher may construct one for them.







According to the opinion of many authors, the constructivist idea of learning takes into account prior knowledge. That means that the facilitator's approach provides the competences for enhancing and promoting debate, where the knowledge is the result of a discover. If prior knowledge is to be considered not scientifically correct, re-analyzing the contents and defining new perspectives is the task of the learner. One of the authors of the theory that is defined as "radical constructivism" profoundly influenced by the theories of Piaget, suggests to break with convention for developing a theory of knowledge in which knowledge does not reflect an objective, ontological reality but exclusively an ordering and organization of a world constituted by our experience" (von Glaserfeld, 1984, p.24). In his book, 'Radical Constructivism: A Way of Knowing and Learning', Glaserfeld states that "To the constructivist, concepts, models, theories, and so on are viable if they prove adequate in the contexts in which they were created." This view stems from an ideology that knowledge and reality do not have an objective or absolute value. Reality is unknown and can only be interpreted by the knower, and then it may cease to be the reality. Hence it is the knower who interprets and constructs a reality based on her experiences and interactions with the environment.







# Defining Constructivism in the Model: why teaching religion with an approach based on experience and discovering

From a functional and pedagogy perspective, constructivism may be defined as an approach or strategy to create a learning environment, or organize an environment where learners solve problems situated in personally relevant contexts, the experience of which helps them build new knowledge. More that problem-solving this process in the case of religions may be defined as inquiry. The experience in defining and analysing answers, whose nature is not to be found in a rational world is part of the personal set of knowledge that comes from different experiences and social relationships among which the more relevant is the familiar context. For these reasons, the competence in inquiring and solving problems, that required a specific philosophic and spiritual dimension, in that particular context is what constitutes learning together with the knowledge related to a deeper understanding of other religions expressions and the attitude to discuss with peers that are involved in other contexts. The apparent absence of a specific learning goal or a single correct solution, the need to collaborate with other human resources and receiving specific or general direction and guidance from a facilitator is what determines this approach as constructivist. Being quite evident the relevant emphasis on the process of problem-solving, it is the case to specify that discussing and learning religion and using the inquiry method for finding solutions and pathways implies the presence of multiple ways to discuss and approaching problems also encourages a great deal of alternative ways of thinking about the problem and that can lead to the development of analytical skills and a creative output.

It is also worth specifying that in this area we are in need to clarify the terms "problem-solving" to which we make a lot of references. In religious and inter-religious teaching and learning, the solution is not unidirectional. Some students may feel that it is even difficult to change their opinion about the creed and certainties, but what they are expected to learn is the ability to accept the idea of the other and to use the term of the approach based on the







inquiry for building the ownership of the knowledge, not to be based in the traditional concepts delivered by their traditional context. The goal of the Life approach is to have more knowledge about the traditional religion the students believe in and a deeper knowledge of the human values of other religions, being either able to a discussion and positive confrontation.

In the LIFE model, constructivist pedagogy intends to take advantage the potential for developing higher order thinking skills. Constructivism, connected with the inquiry approach, can generate internal or intrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation can generate more genuine and long-term interest in learning a subject as religion than the motivation externally supplied by means of external rewards like high grades.







## The Pedagogical Teaching Religion Model (PTRM)

#### **PRINCIPLES**

Constructivism: theory based on observation and scientific study about how people learn. It says that people construct their own understanding and knowledge of the world, through experiencing things and reflecting on those experiences. Persons are active creators of their own knowledge. To do that, they must ask questions, explore, and assess what we know.

• <u>Teaching practice</u>: encouraging students to use active techniques (experiments, real-world problem solving) to create more knowledge and then to reflect on and talk about what they are doing and how their understanding is changing. The teacher makes sure he/she understands the students' preexisting conceptions, and guides the activity to address them and then build on them.

**Collaborative Learning**: method of teaching and learning in which **students team together** to explore a significant question or create a meaningful project. A group of students discussing a lecture or students from different schools working together over the Internet on a shared assignment are both examples of collaborative learning.

Cooperative Learning is a specific kind of Collaborative Learning: students work together in small groups on a structured activity. They are individually accountable for their work, and the work of the group as a whole is also assessed. Cooperative groups work face-to-face and learn to work as a team. In small groups, students can share strengths and also develop their weaker skills. They develop their interpersonal skills. They learn to deal with conflict. When cooperative groups are guided by clear objectives, students engage in numerous activities that improve their understanding of subjects explored.

**Three things** are necessary to create a Cooperative Learning Environment:

- Students need to feel safe, but also challenged.
- Groups need to be small enough that everyone can contribute.
- The task students work together on must be clearly defined.







The cooperative and collaborative learning techniques presented here should help make this possible for teachers. Also, in cooperative learning small groups provide a place where:

- learners actively participate;
- teachers become learners at times, and learners sometimes teach;
- respect is given to every member;
- projects and questions interest and challenge students;
- diversity is celebrated, and all contributions are valued;
- students learn skills for resolving conflicts when they arise;
- members draw upon their past experience and knowledge;
- goals are clearly identified and used as a guide;
- research tools such as Internet access are made available;
- students are invested in their own learning.







## The Model in Action

"I believe it is our responsibility as teachers not only to purvey the chemistry but also to enable and encourage students to learn how to learn" (Johnstone)

#### 10 EDUCATIONAL COMMANDMENTS:

- 1. What you learn is controlled by what you already know and understand.
- 2. How you learn is controlled by how you have learned successfully in the past.
- 3. If learning is to be meaningful it has to link on to existing knowledge and skills enriching and extending both.
- 4. The amount of material to be processed in unit time is limited.
- 5. Feedback and reassurance are necessary for comfort- able learning, and assessment should be humane.
- 6. Cognizance should be taken of learning styles and motivation.
- 7. Students should consolidate their learning by asking themselves about what is going on in their own heads.
- 8. There should be room for problem solving in its fullest sense to exercise and strengthen linkages.
- 9. There should be room to create, defend, try out, and hypothesize.
- 10. There should be opportunity given to teach (you don't really learn till you teach).

## 1. What you learn is controlled by what you already know and understand.

1st Step - What the students know about religion/What is religion Preliminary discussion (all the class take part) (1hour)

## 2. How you learn is controlled by how you have learned successfully in the past.

2nd Step - what do you know because you studied it (ask the class the experienced in the past)







## If learning is to be meaningful it has to link on to existing knowledge and skills enriching and extending both.

3rd step - Answering questions: the Model provides a list of questions related to religion.

The theory under this approach is: it is not possible to teach religion without going through the nature and the narration of a specific religion. The aim of the model is not proposing "how to study history of the religions" but experimenting in the study of the religions, the impact of the multiculturalism.

Nature and conceptual dimension of the **Questions**: the discussion should be lead avoiding any problem related to the conceptual expressions. It is important for the children that their language can be franc and not influenced by the dogmatic positions of others (parents, other teachers etc...).

Wittgenstein's beetle in the box - This one's also known as the Private Language Argument and it's somewhat similar to Mary the Neuroscientist. In Wittgenstein's Philosophical Investigations, he proposed a thought experiment that challenged the way we look at introspection and how it informs the language we use to describe sensations. For the thought experiment, Wittgenstein asks us to imagine a group of individuals, each of whom has a box containing something called a "beetle". No one can see into anyone else's box. Everyone is asked to describe their beetle but each person only knows their own beetle. But each person can only talk about their own beetle, as there might be different things in each person's box. Consequently, Wittgenstein says the subsequent descriptions cannot have a part in the "language game." Over time, people will talk about what is in their boxes, but the word "beetle" simply ends up meaning "that thing that is in a person's box."

Why is this bizarre thought experiment disturbing? The mental experiment points out that the beetle is like our minds, and that we can't know exactly what it is like in another individual's mind. We can't know exactly what other people are experiencing, or the uniqueness of their perspective. It's an issue that's very much related to the so-called *hard problem of consciousness and the phenomenon of qualia*.







#### 4. The amount of material to be processed in unit time is limited.

We have to stimulate the discussion after the end of the hour.

## Feedback and reassurance are necessary for comfort- able learning, and assessment should be humane.

The discussion is guided by the teacher that plays the role of facilitator.

- WHAT Teachers should develop a learning environment that is relevant to and reflective
  of their students' social, cultural, and linguistic experiences. They act as guides, mediators,
  consultants, instructors, and advocates for the students, helping to effectively connect their
  culturally- and community-based knowledge to the classroom learning experiences.
- WHY Ladson-Billing (1995) notes that a key criterion for culturally relevant teaching is nurturing and supporting competence in both home and school cultures. Teachers should use the students' home cultural experiences as a foundation upon which to develop knowledge and skills. Content learned in this way is more significant to the students and facilitates the transfer of what is learned in school to real-life situations (Padron, Waxman & Rivera, 2002).

#### • HOW:

#### Learn about students' cultures

- Have students share artifacts from home that reflect their culture
- Have students write about traditions shared by their families
- Have students research different aspects of their culture

## Vary teaching approaches to accommodate diverse learning styles and language proficiency

- Initiate cooperative learning groups (Padron, Waxman & Rivera, 2002)
- Have students participate in book clubs or literature circles (Daniels, 2002)
- Use student-directed discussion groups (Brisk & Harrington, 2000)
- Speak in ways that meet the comprehension and language development needs of ELLs (Yeldin, 2004)







#### Utilize various resources in the students' communities

- Have members of the community speak to students on various subjects
- Ask members of the community to teach a lesson or give a demonstration (in their field of expertise) to the students
- Invite parents to the classroom to show students alternative ways of approaching a problem (e.g., in math: various ways of dividing numbers, naming decimals, etc.)

#### 6. Cognizance should be taken of learning styles and motivation.

The teachers should spend time for explaining why they are doing this discussion.

7. Students should consolidate their learning by asking themselves about what is going on in their own heads.

The Method is based on QUESTIONS, so teachers must explain what a question is in Philosophy.

## 8. There should be room for problem solving in its fullest sense to exercise and strengthen linkages

The Method is based on INQUIRY, which is defined as "a seeking for truth, information, or knowledge - seeking information by questioning".

A Context for Inquiry - Unfortunately, our traditional educational system has worked in a way that discourages the natural process of inquiry. Students become less prone to ask questions as they move through the grade levels. In traditional schools, students learn not to ask too many questions, instead to listen and repeat the expected answers.

#### 9. There should be room to create, defend, try out, and hypothesize.

In the discussion everyone is free to express his/her own opinion but opinions have to be based on Facts or Biographic Narration.

There should be opportunity given to teach (you don't really learn till you teach).







The Teachers (religion teachers or others) are to be free to present their own teaching style.

## List of questions to be discussed (exemplum)

- Can science ever replace religion? (Prof. Bruce Hood)
- Why should scientists care about religion? (Prof. Robert McCauley)
- Do people become more or less religious with age? (Prof. Jacqueline Woolley)
- If humans are special, and the Earth is the only planet with intelligent life (at least as intelligent as humans), then why go to the trouble of creating the cosmos? Why bother creating hundreds of billions of galaxies, and thousands of billions of stars?
- Why does a perfect God who is all powerful and has all knowledge requires us to praise Him by going to the Church/Mosque?

## Realizing the method together

## 1. Discussing your contribution

After having discussed the Method during the meeting, FVM will ask contribution to take part in a Meeting (TELCO) for defining the final version of the Model.

Creating the list of Questions (10 per Partner).

## 2. Experimenting the Method with teachers

During the Fall School: Meeting with the teachers to explain and discuss the Method.

## 3. Experimenting the Method in schools

- Presenting the aim of the Inquiry Focus activity
- Proposing the list of Questions,
- Diving the pupils in small groups (5-6)
- Discussing the Questions with the pupils (3 Hours) in more than one session if the case







Creating the cooperative answers (2 hours)

## 4. Creating Videos for the Questions

(Some of the questions should be presented by religious experts and philosophers.

Presenting the Questions does not mean giving indications for the answers)

- The Video should last 5 Minutes (Max)
- It will be embedded in the Platform







## LIFE Pedagogical Model

Suggestions for the Teacher - Before developing a discussion about religion you should be sure that during the debate an Appropriate Modes of Address will be respected. In general, it is a good practise to ask what name or form of address students prefer in defining their religion. During class discussions, should be used to refer to students by name as much as possible. Correct pronunciation of names is very important, as it demonstrates cultural awareness and respect. Remember – if you are in doubt, check with students. You should encourage using inclusive language that avoids ethnocentric tones.

It is very important to avoid any Classroom Incivilities:

- Establish explicit ground-rules for appropriate classroom conduct to protect against cultural exclusion and insensitivity;
- Communicate, verbally and non-verbally, high expectations for displaying mutual respect toward all students;
- Encourage students to negotiate an accepted "code of conduct" and set of disciplinary measures for inappropriate classroom behaviour;
- Respond promptly to any behaviour (verbal or non-verbal) that could be considered prejudiced, biased or discriminatory in nature. Do not tolerate racist, sexists or culturally insensitive comments made by students;
- Avoid ignoring or neglecting the needs of individual students. For example, ensure
  you do not have a tendency to favour one group over another when answering
  questions;
- Avoid stereotypes and preconceived assumptions in your teaching practices and content of the discussions;
- When presenting information on cultural and linguistic diverse individuals or minority groups, clearly cite published literature and research findings, rather than expressing your personal opinion. Similarly, encourage students to draw on diverse data sources/evidence to develop their arguments and critique opinions.







- It is also very important to encourage **Open and Inclusive Classroom Discussion**:
- Prompt students to ask questions by using open-ended statements, such as "Would anyone like to share a different opinion or perspective?"
- Avoid singling out individual students or putting anyone "on the spot", particularly
  when discussing culturally or personally sensitive issues. For example, a student will
  feel pressured if it is assumed they can speak on behalf of all people from their
  country or culture of origin;
- Promote turn taking when discussing controversial issues. For example, ensure students take turns expressing their own opinions while also listening to (and genuinely considering) the views of others;
- Ask students how they prefer to learn, and, where possible, examine how you might adapt your teaching and learning activities accordingly.

#### References and Further Resources

Banks, J. A. (1994) *Multi-ethnic Education: Theory and Practice*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Bromley, K. D. (1998). *Language art: Exploring connections*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon

Garcia, E. (1994). *Understanding and meeting the challenge of student cultural diversity*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Gollnick, D. M., & Chinn, P. C. (2001). *Multicultural Education in a Pluralistic Society*. New York: Prentice Hall.

Westwood, M. J., Mak, A. S., Barker, M., & Ishiyama, I. (2000). *Group procedures and applications for developing sociocultural competencies among immigrants.* International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling, 22(4), 317-330.

Wlodkowski, R. J., & Ginsberg, M. B. (1995). *A framework for culturally responsive teaching*, Educational Leadership, 53(1), 17-21.

Woods, P. R., Barker, M. C., & Daly, A. (2004). *Teaching intercultural skills in the multicultural classroom*. Paper presented at the 4th Annual International Conference on Business, Honolulu, June 21-24.







## How to Use the Questions - Part A: Setting up the discussion

It is quite important to decide on the purpose of the discussion and selected the question/s. Then start with clearly devising one or more intended learning goals to be achieved through the discussion, explaining why we are doing it! The teacher is a facilitator and has to ensure that the discussion is built around appropriate over-arching issues. It is very important to ensure that the 'answer' to the question is something that requires an elaborate response.

## Part B: Conduction of the discussion

**Develop** a few subsidiary questions or thought-provoking statements that will help the discussion on its way. The teacher should think ahead to issues or topics that should be raised if the answer is to be thorough;

**Research** the background information: even though the teacher will not be directly delivering information to students (that is the purpose of having the discussion), as the teacher/facilitator, he/she still needs to know the topic area thoroughly.

**Consider** the students' prior ideas and decide together with them what they need to know before being able to take part in a discussion. The more students know about the topic, the deeper their discussion is likely to be. If students don't have enough knowledge about the topic, the session may end up being a teacher-led exposition.

Thus the teacher can decide to develop the discussion without asking to prepare information previously. At the end of the discussion the teacher is suggested to create a **list of topics** and ask the students to deep their knowledge providing information or researching them. In order to make the culture of the religion and the reciprocal understanding stronger, the teacher can invite the students to enlarge the discussion to their partner context and can decide to invite some parents in class in order to open a discussion to the family environment. At the end of the activity it is very important to take a record of the discussion and to share the results with the students asking them to "approve" the minutes.







#### **Further activities**

#### The teacher should:

- Set the students a mini-research project after the discussion, ask them to read some stimulus material (a journal or newspaper article, for example), or watch a video;
- clearly explain the intended learning outcomes for the discussion, so that students
  are aware of its purpose. They will then be more likely to stay focused on the key
  skills and knowledge, and how to apply them.

## List of proposed questions

## Spirituality

- 1. Some people declare to be "spiritual" beings but at the same time they affirm not to be believers in any god.
  - Define what you think "being spiritual" is;
  - Define spirituality in your religion (if you practice any).
  - 2. Many important thinkers, scientists and philosophers declare to be religious people.
    - Think to some of them and Define in which terms their spirituality influenced their way of thinking;
    - Define and present your personal thoughts about how spirituality determines and influences your personal life.
  - 3. Many people living in different religious contexts declare to have no forms of spirituality.
- Define what is this philosophic condition and if in your opinion is possible to not to have any spiritual feeling;
- If you affirm to be a "not a spiritual " person, define your personal condition.

## For Younger students:

- Define what spirituality is;
- Describe what you know about the concept of spirituality in your religion.







## **History and Organisation of religions**

- 4. In all the cultural and historical context religions are strictly related with the evolution of the historical process
  - Define and discuss how the creation of your actual social and political situation is historically determined by the influence of religions;
  - If your religion is not the most practiced in the Country where you live Define the historical meaning of the presence of your religion and the process that lead to the actual situation.
- 5. The process of creation of a religion feeling is influenced by the presence of Religious institutions (Churches, Sects, Cults and others)
  - Describe these Institutions in your country;
  - Are you in direct contact with some of them? Define your experience and the impression you have about its organization and actions.
- 6. In general, a religion is defined by the following elements:
- <u>Beliefs</u> (to be sure of the existences of the religion declared word);
- <u>Rituals</u> (formal ceremonies);
- o *Church* (a public divine worship).
- Define the three aspects in your experiences (even though you are not a believer);
- Define how the religion you practise/d is organised in your country;
- Define how was the traditional religion rituals you practise(d) with your family when you
  were a child (if any) or what you herd by your friends.

## For Younger students:

- Define what is a Church
- Describe what you know about the organisation of the Church in your religion







## **Religious Practices**

The religious practice is a participation in religion ceremonies addressed to create a sense of peace of mind or to obtain comfort. In some cases the religious practices are connected with violence and extreme feelings In the past and partially in some societies even now people believe in ancestral spirits or practice animism believing that nature is influenced by a spiritual power. Other religions believe in a single God (monotheism), other are polytheistic (Hinduism) and other are related to the non-material essence of the life (Buddhism). All these religious expressions are contact with some specific practices and rituals.

- What are the main practices in your religion? Explain what is your feeling when you take part to rituals;
- Explain and define the process of rituals that accompany the life of a person in your religion, in particular: initiation, religious education, weddings and unions, death;
- Explain if in your opinion there are rituals that you consider linked to the old tradition but not very actual in the modern times and explain why;
- Some rituals were imposed by the new conquerors, and sometime the local populations kept some ancient traditions, mixing them with the new imposed religions. This phenomenon is now as "syncretism". Do you know some examples of this process? Study and research some cases and discuss them with the mates.

## For Younger students:

- Define what is the rite you like more and why
- Do you know something about the origin of your religion? Discuss it with the mates

#### Theology

Theology is the study of religious faith, practice, and experience; especially the study of God and of God's relation to the world. Theology is philosophically oriented discipline of religious speculation and apologetics that is traditionally restricted, because of its origins and format, to







Christianity but that may also encompass, because of its themes, other religions, including especially Islam and Judaism. The themes of theology include God, humanity, the world, salvation, and eschatology (the study of last times).

The subject matter of the discipline is treated in a number of other articles. For a survey of systematic interpretations of the divine or sacred, see agnosticism; atheism; deism; dualism; monotheism; nature worship; pantheism; polytheism; theism; and totemism. For a survey of major theological concerns within particular religions, see doctrine and dogma.(britannica.com)

- How are we like God and how are we different from God?
- Who wrote the Holy Texts (Koran, Bible and others) and Why is it important (or it is not) to learn what they say?
- How can we know if the Holy texts are true or not?
- In many religious texts Gods punish the humans in case of disrespect of the rules, but all the religions (or at least most of them) affirm that Gods love Human beings, why the punishment (at the end of the life or during it) is presented?
- Many religions assure for right people good and eternal life after the human life. Discuss your feeling and present what your belief is about;
- Why does God want us to worship? How do we worship Gods?
- If God knows what I'm thinking and what my needs are, why do I have to pray about them?
- In many religions God expects us to forgive everyone who hurts us? Why? in other Religion God wants us to react and punish who does not respect the rules. Why? Discuss with your mates your opinions and feelings.

#### For Younger students:

- It is important for you being a religious person?
- How you think God is helping you in your everyday life?







## Bibliography

#### Dewey, John

Classic Reading:

Dewey, J. (1916). *Democracy and education*. New York, NY: MacMillan & Co. This is Dewey's seminal work on education that spawned the progressive movement in the US.

Dewey, J. (1933) *How we think: A restatement of the relation of reflective thinking to the educative process*. Boston: D. C. Heath.

This is an exploration of thinking and learning processes: Dewey's concern with experience, interaction and reflection is thoroughly explored, along with his worries about linear models of thinking.

Dewey, J. (1938) Art as Experience. New York: MacMillan.

This is Dewey's most comprehensive (and final) work on education.

Johnson, J.R. (2003) Dewey and Vygotsky: *A comparison of their views on social constructivism in education*. Dissertation abstracts international, section A: The humanities and social sciences. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press. Abstract no: DA3088475.

This study compares the thoughts of Vygotsky and Dewey on social constructivism and educational reform.

Hung, D.W.L. Metaphorical ideas as mediating artifacts for the social construction of knowledge: Implications from the writings of Dewey and Vygotsky. International journal of instructional media 29(2), 197-215.

This study focuses on the power of metaphorical ideas for the internalization of concepts and the social construction of knowledge as outlined by Dewey and Vygotsky.

Vanderstraeten, R. (2002) *Dewey's transactional constructivism*. Journal of Philosophy of Education 36(2), 233-247.

In this study, the author argues that Dewey's work anticipates much of what is important about constructivist epistemology and constructivist pedagogy.

#### Bandura, Albert

Classic Reading:

Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Seminal research on the effect of modeling on learners' cognitive and social development; his work presents a strong case for the social nature on individual social and cognitive development.







Bandura, A., Ross, D., and Ross, S.A. *Transmission of aggression through imitation of aggressive models*. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 63, 575-582

# Bartlett, Frederic C.

Bartlett, F.C. Social constructiveness. British Journal of Psychology, 18, 388-390.

Bartlett outlines the various social factors within the group which tend to modify and elaborate imported customs and to evolve new forms. Constructive-ness proceeds largely through a general trend of development, which may not be fully realized by any member of the group. (PsychINFO Database Record ©2004 APA, all rights reserved)

### Bruner, Jerome S.

Bruner, J.S. (1960). The Process of Education. Boston: Harvard University Press

Bruner, J.S. (1964). Toward a theory of instruction. Boston: Harvard University Press.

The author describes both how children learn and how they can best be helped to learn and reach their full potential. Bruner advocates using comparison in classroom activities to enhance critical thinking. He also laid out steps for scaffolding.

Bruner, J.S., (1971). The process of education revisited. Phi delta kappan. 53, 1, 18-21

By the time of this publication, Bruner had revised many of his original beliefs about cognition in education.

### Clancey, William J.

Clancey, W.J. (1997) *Situated cognition: On human knowledge and computer representations.* Boston: Cambridge University Press.

Cognition is viewed not just in terms of high-level "expertise", but in terms of the ability to find one's way around the world, to learn new ways of seeing things, and to coordinate activity. This approach is called "situated cognition."

### Eisner, Eliot W.

Eisner, E.W., & Peshkin, A. (1990) *Qualitative inquiry in education: The continuing debate*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Eisner, E.W. (1991) The enlightened eye: qualitative inquiry and the enhancement of educational practice. New York: Macmillan.

Eisner, E.W. (1994a) *The educational imagination: On the design and evaluation of school programs*. 3rd ed. New York: Macmillan.

This is a curriculum development book from one of the most prominent figures in the field. It is designed to help readers understand the major approaches to curriculum planning and the formation of educational goals.

Eisner, E.W. (1994b) *Cognition and curriculum reconsidered*. 2nd ed. New York: Teachers College Press.







Cognition and Curriculum became a seminal book which was essential reading for students of education over the last decade. Eisner has now revised his classic work. The result is Cognition and Curriculum Reconsidered, a substantially revised edition that adds two new chapters, including a critique of the reform efforts of the intervening years. © Amazon.com

# Montessori, Maria (1870-1952)

Montessori, M. (1916). The Montessori Method. New York: Schocken Books.

### Piaget, Jean

Piaget, J. (1926). The language and thought of the child. New York: Harcourt Brace.

## Rogoff, Barbara

Rogoff, B. (1990). *Apprenticeship in thinking: Cognitive development in social context.* New York: Oxford University Press.

## Vygotsky, Lev

Vygotsky, L. (1926). Mind in society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

## Widmaier, W. W.

Widmaier, W.W. (2004) Theory as a factor and the theorist as an actor: The 'pragmatist constructivist' – lessons of John Dewey and John Kenneth Galbraith. International Studies Review, 6(3), 427-446.

This article is a comparison of the arguments of John Dewey and John Kenneth Galbraith.







# SUMMARY OF THE RESULTS OF DIDACTIC EXPERIMENTATIONS IMPLEMENTED IN PARTICIPATING PARTNER COUNTRIES (IT, ES, BG, EL, TR)

### ITALY – Fondazione Hallgarten-Franchetti Centro Studi Villa Montesca

Pilot was implemented by 5 teachers in 4 different schools:

- 1. 1° Circolo Didattico San Filippo, Citta' di Castello, PG, Italy (primary)
- 2. School Martiri della Libertà, Citta' di Castello, PG, Italy (primary)
- 3. Scuola Superiore di Primo grado Alighieri-Pascoli, Citta' di Castello, PG, Italy (middle school)
- 4. Liceo Europeo S. Francesco di Sales, Citta' di Castello, PG, Italy (high school)

PILOTING PROGRAM & ACTIVITIES - During the pilots children were introduced to different religions. Together with teachers they read texts, sacred books, visited exhibitions and places of worship, met representatives of other religions, interviewed religious figures and all this gave inspiration for many moments of collective and personal reflection. The path was a "journey" between symbols and signs that express the different religious confessions, discovering their differences and promoting dialogue, respect and curiosity towards those who practice another faith. Children often took the stage presenting their religion in a simple and clear way, stimulating fruitful discussions and questions form classmates. The approach of the LIFE Model has been experiential, interactive and stimulated the curiosity of children quite a lot. To document this interesting journey pictures, videos and drawings were created and the pupils discussed with the children of other confessions including the Atheists. In one case (Liceo Europeo S. Francesco di Sales), starting from the ideas provided after the first training held at Villa Montesca, an openended questionnaire with 7 questions was prepared and distributed among the pupils. The questions ranged from the concept of spirituality to the notional knowledge of one's own religious beliefs. Particular attention was given to the theme of multiculturalism and to the issue of the relationship between Religion and teaching.

**PARTICIPANTS** - The participants in the experimentation among the participating schools were 388 pupils between 6 and 18 years old, of different nationalities (Italians, Arabs, Rumanians, Bulgarians, Chinese) with different cultural and religious backgrounds (Christian-Muslim-Orthodox







and atheists). Disadvantaged learners were also involved in piloting activities (students with different learning disorders, students facing social barriers). In particular, it should be emphasized that the high school San Francesco di Sales, despite being a Catholic school, includes among its students (and therefore also among those involved in pilot) students of other religious confessions: Muslims, Orthodox, Evangelicals and Jehovah's Witnesses.

**FEEDBACK OF THE PARTICIPANTS** - The feedback was positive considering not only the main topic but, above all, the methodology which was certainly seen as singular and different from the traditional frontal school lesson. From the data gathered through the surveys and from what teachers experienced personally, it can be affirmed that most of the students were very interested and involved in the experimentation. The shape teachers gave to the project made the whole journey an active and involving one. Through meeting and confrontation, they noticed in many of the pupils a considerable personal growth, greater self-esteem, greater autonomy and greater awareness of one's own experience compared to that of others. Consequently many ideas for personal and collective reflections came up, thus developing the ability to recognize the many differences that characterize the life of each one of us. In general, the experience had positive effects on:

- listening and attention,
- collaboration and participation,
- interest and motivation,
- ability to select information,
- awareness of their potential and weaknesses,
- respect for those who think differently,
- having fun in learning.







5. PUPILS' PERSPECTI	5. PUPILS' PERSPECTIVES AND IDEAS	
Spirituality	With regard to the theme of spirituality, children have developed the idea that every man of any religious creed needs to ask himself crucial questions about existence. These are some of the most significant answers: 1) Spirituality is when one encounters his God not only inside his soul but also with his eyes. 2) It is an emotion that feeds with love and respect towards God. 3) It is a moment where you can meet Jesus 4) It is when we go to church with the teacher Sandra and we pray for the people who are not with us anymore.	
History and Organization of Religions	What I synthetically report is the outcome of children's spontaneity: 1) About my religion, I know that it was born when Jesus was crucified. 2) the church as other sacred places in my opinion are not only monuments, but places where believers meet to pray their god. 3) in my religion the leader is the Pope who represents God on earth. 4) About my religion, I know that Muhammad was chosen by Allah because he was special	
Religious Practices	1) religious practices bring us closer to God and as celebrate them in different moments in our lives, they have a different value for us because we do not think as children but with time we realize and reflect on what we do. 2) the preferred ritual is confession because I can free myself from sins. 3) the sacraments allow me to meet God in my heart. 4) I have to pray 5 times a day otherwise Allah gets angry, before praying I wash myself. 5) baptism is the most important moment of all because parents bring God into your life and you will never be alone. 6) through prayer I feel God in my heart and he helps me in difficult times	
Theology	7) if I pray and ask God for help after a little something nice happens. 8) I love God because he gave me health. 8) God gave me a good life. 9) I must behave well otherwise Allah is going to punishes me. 10) when I make sins and I try to wash myself before praying, the water does not wet my hands. 11) I have a physical problem because I am unlucky and my mother says that Allah punished me. 12) I am happy to be a Christian because God always forgives us just like a father who forgives his children.	
	All the children at this stage of the experimentation were curious about the key concepts of other confessions.	

**SUPPORTING MATERIALS** - Materials used for the experimentation were textbooks, books consulted in the library, teachers' own material, research on the internet, use of audiovisual material, spontaneous and copied drawings. collage technique, maps, interactive games ("religiocando") overhead projector and photos. Spaces: classroom - multimedia classroom -







"rainbow" classroom – school outdoor spaces, park - places of worship (church-mosque). Teacher support and guidance.

### **BULGARIA - Center for Educational Initiatives (CEI)**

Pilot was implemented by 7 teachers in 2 different schools:

- 1. 51<sup>th</sup> Secondary school "Elisaveta Bagryana", Sofia, Bulgaria
- 2. 18<sup>th</sup> "William Gladstone" Secondary School, Sofia, Bulgaria

PILOTING PROGRAM & ACTIVITIES - Students have classes of religion from their first grade on. The subject of religion is not alien to them. Every week they have two classes with the teacher of religion - Ms. Zhivkova. During her classes pupils were introduced to the Christian religion - the different traditions and values. The classes are interesting for the children as they have many visual materials and games. Some activities implemented with the pupils: visiting a church, recreating the various Christian festivals, Bible-related projects. For piloting the LIFE model the structure described in the model was followed and applied:

The project was introduced to the children, who were told that children from different countries and from different religions participated. A preliminary discussion was held on what students know about religion and what religion is. In the form of play, the children have come to the conclusion that it is important to respect those who profess another religion. Pupils were divided into 3 groups and each group received a project to present what the Muslims, Jews and Buddhists believe in. Together with teachers, pupils discussed the most important things from what has been learned about Christian religion. Each group presented their project and told their classmates the new things.

The children were given the task of drawing. According to what they learned they drew images of the world made up of people who believe in different things. Eventually, an exhibition of different drawings was held. At the end of this session pupils played a game of honesty that pleases them very much.

Four questions were chosen on each of the themes of the model: Spirituality, History and Organization of Religious, Religious Practices, Theology:

1. What is religion?







- 2. Do scientists have to believe in God?
- 3. Why should we pray in church?
- 4. Will God also breathe life on other planets?

Questions were written on sheets. Each sheet was picked up from a different student who had to answer the question. After the answer, the students had the right to express their own opinion and to supplement the answer. They were asked to come up with questions related to the topic and ask a classmate or a teacher. A video with children's answers was shooted. Finally, children were asked to complete the project evaluation form.

**PARTICIPANTS** – Students involved were in total 60. The students from the second grade were 10 years old and had never studied religion. Twenty-five students took part in project activities, with 10 of them identifying themselves as Christians, while others said they were not religious. Their families also defined themselves as atheists. The class had a child with special educational needs, diagnosis "Dyslexia" who actively participated; his family supported the activity during the piloting very well.

The students from the 3rd grade (30) identified themselves as believers, but not in God, and only half say they are Christians. Their families are not religious, but they perform some rituals during the holidays. A child with special educational needs was involved and actively participated in the discussions, showing a strong will to participate in project activities. The child has been diagnosed with "Dysphasia of Development and Attention Deficit".

In the other school involved, 27 children, always 10 years old, participated to the piloting.

Four of them feature special educational needs. Three of the children are adopted by their current families and show a lag in development. One of the children has epilepsy. They are all Christians.

**FEEDBACK OF THE PARTICIPANTS** – The general feedback from the students was extremely positive. All students responded that their activities were very interesting and would continue to do these activities in classes on the topic of religion. During the time provided for piloting the model, all students took an active part. They wanted to answer the questions themselves and finally, with great enthusiasm, they devised questions that they would ask their classmates.







In general, students want to talk about topics that are connected with multiculturalism and the history of religions, but they have no experience to share. Unfortunately, their parents have no experience and did not tell them at home about different religions. Even Christianity has never been explained to the pilot phase of the project. Here's a list of some of the free answers that students have given:

- "I liked the most when we picked up cards and we responded to them. That lesson was incredible."
- "I liked that I learned a lot about religion !!!"
- "I loved it!"
- "I liked it because we worked together"
- "I enjoyed this lesson very much. It was almost the most interesting lesson in religion"
- "Classes were interesting to me because it was fun"

Two of the children have written that their views on religion have not changed. They have not explained why, but this shows certainty their attitude to the topic of religion.

5. PUPILS' PERSPECTIVES AND IDEAS	
Spirituality	Because of the young age of the students and the lack of experience in the study of religion, this issue was not covered. Teachers preferred to deal with more specific questions.
	In church people pray because it is closest to God. In church people pray for something good to happen to them. In church, people pray and believe that God will help them overcome the torment or disease. I know candles are lit and you are also praying there. When you are desperate you go and gather the faith there.
History and Organization of Religions	I believe in church people pray to God and light a candle. If they have done anything wrong, they recognize their sins there.  The church is a place where people go to pray, to get rid of bad energy and to honor the dead saints and relatives.  In my view, the church is a place where the sacred spirit is preserved and people go there to pray for health, happiness and luck.  The church is a sacred place with many icons and drawings inside.







of the European Unio	n CENTRO STUDI VILLA M
·	FONDAZION
	When do people go to church?
	People go to church at any time, but mostly on holidays.
	People go to church the most during the holidays and when they can.
	In my opinion, people go to church when they are ill or tired to regain their
	strength and continue living.
	People go to church when they feel tense and unbelieving.
	When the children are baptized, or else they go at holidays.
	People go to church when some of their relatives have died or when they
	have lost faith.
	Do you have to be a believer to go to church?
	No, you do not, as you want.
	In my opinion if you are believer, you do not have to go to church.
	When they really need help or want something, even unbelievers go to
	church.
	What are the sacred books?
	The sacred books are books like the Bible and others, in which the church
	songs and sermons are written.
	Sacred books are books written by a saint about religion. They serve to
	teach religion.
Religious Practices	
	Do you know any religious person?
	Students do not know religious people or do not understand the issue.
	G to proper to the contract of
	Yes, I know a religious man. He baptized me. I think everybody needs to
	know at least one.
	I know a saint Seraphim. Let people be very good.
	Door Cod holy in evenuday life? Door he half and the halfavers?
	Does God help in everyday life? Does he help only the believers?
	In daily life, God helps me sometimes, but sometimes not. Also, God does
	not only help believers, he also helps those who need help even if they do

not believe in God.







	FONDAZIO
	What is it to be a believer?
	I believe in the resurrection of Jesus.
	Being a believer means believing that God is watching you.
	Being a believer is a good thing, you feel protected from everything.
	Something that cannot be described, but I think it means believing in anything.
Theology	Believing is to believe in God.
	Being a believer is following the rules and behaving well. You do not have to observe all the rules and go to the church every day.
	Being a believer is to honor religion. For example, we Christians honor God and celebrate Easter and Christmas.
	Being a believer is hard, because life offers you different things, and you have to go through it. Trust the creator of the Earth - God.
	Being a believer is to be good and to be devoted.  A believer is one who believes in a certain God, depending on the religion.

**SUPPORTING MATERIALS** - In the pilot phase of the project sketchy drawings, essays about traditions during important Christian holidays were made. Photos of the discussions and videos were taken. Recorded videos with students' answers to the following questions:

- 1. What is religion? May science replace the faith?
- 2. Do scientists have to believe in God?
- 3. Why should we pray in church?
- 4. Will God also breathe life on other planets?







### **GREECE - EDRA (Social cooperative activities for vulnerable groups)**

Pilot was implemented by 2 teachers in 1 school: 7<sup>th</sup> Primary School of Kamatero, Athens, Greece PILOTING PROGRAM & ACTIVITIES – The pupils' age was taken seriously and many activities cultivate students' psychomotor skills while playing games character (clothes rope, card creation etc.). The teacher is an animator who actively listens to students, suggests without impose and accompany them (triptych hear-suggest-accompany). The motifs artistic reasoning are activities in which all students easily get involved and they contain procedures that can strengthen the principles of cooperation and intercultural education. The project has been developed in accordance to the theories of interfaith, structural and social constructivism and cooperative teaching. Initially, the groups were divided, based on student preferences and skills after a sociogram that preceded them.

Activities implemented during the experimentation are the following:

- Discussion in groups Brainstorming
- Questions to discover prior perceptions
- Concept map
- View Hindu map image and brainstorming technique
- Pattern: perspective, know, care about.
- Creative expression activities
- · Reading an extract of a text from Vedic
- E-laboration game
- Web search about Hinduism (activity at home)
- Calendar Authoring Activity: "One Day In India" (reflective technique, cultivation of empathy).
- Closed-type group activities
- Experiential activity "In the rope of laundry"
- Problem solving
- Artful thinking







### Musical kinetic activity – Game

**PARTICIPANTS** – The pilot was implemented in the Fourth and Sixth Grade of the school.

Total number 4<sup>th</sup> grade: 23 students (11 boys, 12 girls) of 10 years old; Disadvantaged learners: Williams syndrome (1 girl), dyslexia (1 boy).

Total number  $6^{th}$  grade: 23 students of 11 - 12 years old.

All children were enthusiastically involved, interested and effective. The girl with the syndrome participated in simpler activities with a playful character.

**FEEDBACK OF THE PARTICIPANTS** - The participation of all pupils was very active throughout the project. In the end, the goals have been achieved since all concepts have been understood and assimilated to a great extent so as students deepen , recognize them and spread them. Consequently, metacognitive skills were cultivated. The experiential activities implemented have positively contributed to the action to the personal, social, cultural development of the students. The students modify their views and go beyond stereotypes which have to do with people of other religions and end up in personal compositions. The problem-solving learning model (PBL) has also been applied and revealed as fully adequate to the specific educational field and subject. The model helped students to study, examine, analyze and attempt to solve a problem. Learning through solution problems is a method that introduces into the field of education a different dimension in the learning process. It is essentially a student-centric method that integrates the student into the center of learning process. Students were actively involved in the acquisition of knowledge in an environment in which they didn't remain mere observers, but were actively involved in the educational process.







5. PUPILS' PERSPECTIVES AND IDEAS	
Spirituality	It is hard to understand this concept
History and Organization of Religions	They know basic principles of some religions
Religious Practices	Foreign religions and especially Eastern religions are not familiar to students. Often, they are approached as something exotic with folklore character. This project combines the study of foreign religions with interdisciplinary, intercultural approach, but also with the involvement of other cognitive objects to achieve a holistic approach and students stand critically and with respect to the religious phenomenon.
Theology	Theology is not perceived in its entirety. The children's answers were that theology is the word of God and whatever has to do with religion.

**SUPPORTING MATERIALS** - The practice has the elements of web - exploration and exploits rich material from the Internet (texts, presentations, photos, videos). At the same time, it promotes cooperation and helps them to come in contact with Eastern religions from another perspective. Finally, the practice involves different fields of knowledge (ICT, Literature, Visual Arts, mathematics, music, English).

### **SPAIN - San Jorge University (FUSJ)**

Pilot was implemented by 7 teachers in 3 different schools:

- 1. Colegio Diocesano Santo Domingo de Silos, Zaragoza, Spain
- 2. Colegio El Salvador Jesuitas, Zaragoza, Spain
- 3. Colegio Valdespartera, Zaragoza, Spain

### **PILOTING PROGRAM & ACTIVITIES** – Piloting program was the following:

- 1. 1st Session: Presentation of the activity, Questions for reflection and motivation (LIFE Model)
- 2. 2nd Session: Screening of the video "Strings", Personal work, file with the questions raised from the projection.







- 3. 3rd Session: Divide the class into groups, Put in common the answers to the questions worked the previous day. (20 minutes), Present the group's conclusions, write and project them on the board.
- 4. 4th Session: Discussion on the conclusions, Student evaluation.

This pattern was used in order to discover and analyze different religious creeds, having a general overview of the main features of different religious beliefs and their common concepts and values. In one particular case, an entire module was dedicated to Hinduism and its culture.

**PARTICIPANTS** – Participants involved in the didactic experimentation were in total 434, aged between 6 and 12 years old. Some of them belong to semi private and religious schools.

**FEEDBACK OF THE PARTICIPANTS** - They showed themselves truly interested, most of all, when they were requested to reflect about real situations and people. In some cases they discovered how their answers changed depending if they were able to empathized with a real mate (not only, being a viewer). Teachers are aware of the negative effects of the mass media or comments that they listen to, referring to Jewish people, but also at the same time, about the big influence that society, context, family (hidden curriculum) has on their opinions and views. The fact that all of the students were Spanish and Christians could be considered as an handicap in the chances to live and understand the diversity.

With reference to the module on Hinduism, students showed great interest and were eager to know and discover more details about Indian culture and religion. They were amazed by their clothes, animals, temples and dances of course. Some of them told the teacher they would like to visit the country and were very curious about learning other different cultures. They are still young and sometimes they confused India with Japan or another country but what is true is their feelings and excitement.







5. PUPILS' PERSPECTIVES AND IDEAS	
Spirituality	Not all of them, but most of them referred to a sense of feeling "something" when they are talking with god or even the real feeling that there is "something else". And that is something that they share with other religions.  Discover different culture and different people and arrive to the conclusion that we have things in common too.
History and Organization of Religions	At the beginning all of them show respect to other religions and culture but they change this opinion (in some cases) when they are asked to grade the different religions. Their religion is the strongest.  Pupils didn't understand how in India animals can be in the streets. They mentioned the beauty of India and its colours.  They feel really interested in visit India.
Religious Practices	All of them are aware to difference between spitituality and the religious practices in a religion
Theology	It was too hard to be understood by them. But they are able to understand the fact of the study of religions  Knowing the fact that there are other religions and in this case that believe in more than one God. It was hard to understand. They wanted to put face to these Gods.

# **SUPPORTING MATERIALS** – Video about the history of India:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BjH9RZrsa00

Web of Jesuits: www.educatemagis.org.es

Photos of people, temples and symbols.

Bollywood dances: <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TBAj4nbdLEU">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TBAj4nbdLEU</a>







### **TURKEY - EGECED**

Pilot was implemented by 5 teachers in the İzmir SEV Elemantary School, İzmir, Turkey.

**PILOTING PROGRAM & ACTIVITIES** – Piloting was organised as a 6 week learning plan. 90 students (4 classrooms) participated in the program. Every week a different topic was tackled, starting from introducing the concept of religion and presenting the different religions to the pupils. Common concepts of religions were analysed in the following sessions together with reflexion activity and discussion in class on the concept of faith and morals. Concerning the different religious practices, a focus was devoted to the worships of different religions as well as traditional holy feasts and celebrations. Class activities included cooperative learning, group work, Q&A sessions, presentations about different religions. In addition to that, demonstration by the students were organized by the teachers during cultural activities such as a multi-language children chorus, field day, 23<sup>rd</sup> of April National Sovereignty and Children's Day. Students were able to familiarize with the traditions by celebrating important dates of different religions such as Christmas, Ramadan and Passover Holiday.

**PARTICIPANTS** – Participants involved in the didactic experimentation were in total 90, aged between 7 and 12 years old, from different religious backgrounds (Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Alawism and Atheism). The questionnaires gathered from students were collected and sent to the leading partner for comparative research.

**FEEDBACK OF THE PARTICIPANTS** - According to the surveys and also teachers' feedbacks, students were highly interested in the classes. The topics and teaching methods were raising the attention of the students and they were very motivated since they could speak and question freely. Many of them became more tolerant and sympathetic towards other cultures, leading to a curiosity to learn other religions as well.







5. PUPILS' PERSPECTIVES AND IDEAS	
Spirituality	Some of students were impressed by the topic and they start to learn more about different religions. Students started to think about others and other believes.
History and Organization of Religions	Some of students said that this is the first time that they hear about religion and prophets. Students learned a lot of new information about history of religion and different religions.  What I should do in order to became a prophet? This is one of the interesting questions from pupils.
Religious Practices	Students visited mosque, church and synagogue to learn about practices of different religions and worships in different religions. Students from different religions celebrated religious days of their friend and they learned more about cultures and believes.
Theology	Some of students asked interesting questions about God, religions and the necessity of religions.  If there is only one God why there are so many religions? This is another interesting question came from students.

**SUPPORTING MATERIALS** - The developed curriculum was base material. Some texts about different cultures and religions are examined together. The religious stories are shared. Different religious places (mosque, synagogue and church) are visited. Icons, holly books and photos are shared. Discussion and questioning model were implemented and students were fully engaged in discussions.

During the music lessons a choir is formed and students performed different songs in 5 languages. They performed the songs for parents during the parents meeting at the school and then the project is presented to parents.